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About DIAGNOS 

DIAGNOS inc. is a leader in the use of Artificial Intelligence and advanced knowledge extraction technologies. 

DIAGNOS provides data mining and interpretation consulting services and designs advanced data analytics 
software products. The Corporation uses a suite of data mining tools capable of extracting knowledge from 
historical data, in the form of images, text or traditional databases that improve business processes and decision 
making ability. 

DIAGNOS offers products, services and solutions to clients in the fields of healthcare and natural resources. The shares 
of DIAGNOS are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol ADK. 
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Message to Shareholders 
 

Dear Shareholders: 
 
Financials 
Overall revenues for the year 
ended March 31, 2012 amounted 
to $1,327,820, an increase of 
24% over the previous year 
ended March 31, 2011. The 
natural resources sector 
(CARDS) continued to be our 

sales driving force, accounting for 88%, or $1,174,135, of 
total revenues for the current year ended March 31, 2012. 
This increase in revenues is mainly attributable to the 
awareness created by the « Plan Nord » economic 
development project announced by the Quebec government 
in May of 2011. The territory that the Plan Nord covers 
encompasses all of Quebec's territory north of the 49th 
parallel. Considering that this territory was less explored in 
the past, our CARDS solution is well suited to help guide 
exploration crews to the mineral zones with the highest 
potential. 
 

Net loss for the year ended March 31, 2012 increased by 
$885,525 to $2,192,979. This is mainly attributable to the fact 
that, in 2011, the Corporation sold about 86% of its portfolio 
of shares of publicly traded companies resulting in a gain of 
$501,985. In 2012 the Corporation did not sell any shares of 
publicly traded companies. Increases in business 
development expenses related to the market introduction of 
CARA and in development expenses related to CARA also 
contributed to the increase in net loss for 2012. 
 
As at March 31, 2012, the Corporation had approximately 
$1,978,000 in cash and short-term investments and the 
portfolio of shares of publicly traded companies was valued 
at approximately $272,000. 
 
 
 

 
 
Looking forward 
During the year we made two important announcements 
regarding regulatory compliance and market 
commercialization approval for CARA. In July of 2011 we 
announced clearance by the US Food and Drug 
Administration and in November of 2011, the issuance of a 
CE (Conformité Européenne) certificate. CARA is now 

compliant with the regulatory bodies of Canada, the United 
States of America and the European Union. 
CARA is a technology designed to assist healthcare 
specialists in the detection of diabetic retinopathy – damage 
to the back of the eye caused by complications of diabetes, 
which can eventually lead to blindness. We are confident that 
this application will generate new streams of revenues based 
on the following factors:  
 
• Screening of diabetics for diabetic retinopathy is 

currently done, for the most part, manually and therefore 
is inefficient;  
 

• Automating the process leads to better outcomes for 
diabetics and savings to the healthcare system.  

 
For the commercialization of CARA DIAGNOS now has a 
presence either directly or through resellers in North America 
(Canada, USA and Mexico), Europe (France) and Asia 
(Vietnam and some countries of the Gulf Cooperation 
Council). In January 2012, we formed a new subsidiary, 
Diagnos USA Inc., to better address the US market.  
 
It is my pleasure to submit this 2012 annual report. 
 
 
 
 
 
André Larente 
President 
June 27, 2012 

« In July of 2011 we announced clearance 
by the US Food and Drug Administration 
and in November of 2011, the issuance of 
a CE certificate for CARA » 
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Board of Directors 
 
 

Philip Renaud, Chairman 
 
Mr. Renaud is Managing 
Director of Church Advisors, a 
European investment advisory 
firm involved in private 
financings. Mr. Renaud is a 
graduate of Franklin College of 

Switzerland. Mr. Renaud is also Chairman of Kane 
Biotech inc., a biotechnology company, and a Director of 
Dia Bras Exploration Inc. and Yorbeau Resources Inc., 
two public minerals exploration companies. 
  
 
Richard B. Baxter 
 
A co-founder of New Health Capital Partners in New York 
City, Mr. Baxter was previously the co head of 
Drawbridge Special Opportunities Health Care Group at 
Fortress Investment Group LLC.  
 
A cum laude graduate (A.B., History) of Princeton 
University, Mr. Baxter also holds an MBA from the 
Harvard Business School. Mr. Baxter has extensive 
experience in the healthcare and finance industries 
acquired through senior executive roles in marketing and 
business development with US based pharmaceutical 
and biopharmaceutical companies. 
 

 
 
André Larente 
 
Mr. Larente is the President of the Corporation. Mr. 
Larente has previously held leading management 
positions with companies such as Siemens, Syscan 
International, Newbridge Networks, Legent, Cognos, 
Tandem Computers and Honeywell Information Systems. 
 
 
Olivier Lerolle 
 
A French national and a permanent resident of 
Switzerland since 1985, Mr. Lerolle graduated from École 
Supérieure de Commerce de Paris. Mr. Lerolle held 
several management positions with Citibank (in New 
York) and Banque Indosuez. The functions held in the 
latter included responsibility of capital markets and 
mergers and acquisitions (M&A) activities. 
 
 
Bruno Maruzzo 
 
Mr. Maruzzo has over 20 years experience in working 
with small to medium size technology companies in the 
medical and biotechnology fields as well as working in 
venture capital investing in technology oriented 
companies. Mr. Maruzzo holds a BASc in Electrical 
Engineering from the University of Waterloo a MASc in 
Biomedical Engineering and an MBA, both from the 
University of Toronto. 
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Management 
 
 
André Larente 
President 
 
Mr. Larente has been active in the information technology 
sector for many years. He has previously held leading 
management positions with companies such as Siemens, 
Syscan International, Newbridge Networks, Legent, 
Cognos, Tandem Computers and Honeywell Information 
Systems.  
 

Houssem Ben Tahar, Msc 

Vice-President - 

Development and Business Intelligence 

Mr. Ben Tahar received a degree in Statistics Engineering 
(INSEA Rabat), as well as a Master of Applied Economics 
and a Master of Business Intelligence from HEC 
Montreal. Mr. Ben Tahar served as President of the 
consulting services of HEC Montreal.  
 

Michel Fontaine 
Vice-President - 
Business Development 
 
Mr. Fontaine joined the team in January 2005. Previously, 
Mr. Fontaine served as Vice-President within a firm 
specialized in foreign exchange trading. Earlier, 
Mr. Fontaine worked in the mining resources industry in 
Vancouver, BC and then was a stock broker with 
brokerage firms in Canada. 

 
 
 
Marc-André Massue, CPA, CA 
Vice-President - 
Finance and CFO 
 
Mr. Massue joined the team in May 2008. He has many 
years of financial and human resources management 
experience with high technology corporations.  

Mr. Massue received a Bachelor in Business 
Administration (BBA) from HEC Montréal, as well as a 
Diploma in Economics from the Université de Montréal. 
Mr. Massue is a member of the Quebec Ordre des 
comptables professionnels agréés. Mr Massue is also 
Secretary of the Corporation.  
 

Peter Nowacki, EMBA 
Vice-President - 
Healthcare 
 
Mr. Nowacki has joined DIAGNOS in June 2009. 
Mr. Nowacki’s cross-functional experience in science, 
healthcare, data mining, technology and business was 
acquired through work performed for public organizations, 
biotech corporations as well as various independent 
consulting projects.  

Mr. Nowacki holds a Master’s degree with Dean’s 
Honours in Bio-Informatics from McGill University, and an 
Executive MBA from Queen’s University. He is the author 
of several peer-reviewed scientific publications 
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Management Discussion and Analysis 
 

Note to reader 
 
The following discussion, dated June 27, 2012, analyses the consolidated financial position of Diagnos Inc. (“DIAGNOS”, “the 
Corporation” or “We”) as at March 31, 2012 and for the three-month period and year ended March 31, 2012 and should be read in 
conjunction with the March 31, 2012 annual financial statements and accompanying notes. These consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The currency used is the Canadian dollar. 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) approved by the Board of Directors on June 27, 2012 and takes into account 
information available up to the filing date on SEDAR.  
 
Forward-looking statements 
 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the Corporation. By their nature, these forward-looking 
statements necessarily imply risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by 
these forward-looking statements. We consider the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based to be 
reasonable, but caution the reader that assumptions regarding future events, many of which are beyond our control, may ultimately 
prove to be incorrect since they are subject to risks and uncertainties that affect the Corporation. These risks and uncertainties include 
risks associated with market acceptance, competitive developments, the world economic situation and other factors. Except for ongoing 
obligations under securities laws to disclose all material information to investors, we disclaim any intention or obligation to update or 
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 
 
Description of the Corporation and activities 
 
DIAGNOS is a Canadian corporation that offers data interpretation services based on its suite of proprietary software products used to 
extract knowledge from historical data. DIAGNOS is active in the following sectors: 

■ Natural resources:  Data mining consulting services through CARDS (Computer Aided Resource Detection System), a software tool 
which is currently used to assist exploration companies in identifying mining deposits. In combination with modern exploration 
techniques, CARDS is a useful tool intended to save both money and time by targeting priority (or prioritizing) areas for exploration. 
In addition to data mining and target generation, DIAGNOS offers project management services. CARDS has been developed by, 
and is proprietary to, DIAGNOS. 

■ Healthcare:  Consulting services through CARA (Computer Assisted Retinal Analysis), a software tool which assists health 
specialists in the detection of diabetic retinopathy. CARA is an in-house hosted web-based application that integrates fundus 
cameras with an image processing engine over a secure internet connection. CARA has been developed by, and is proprietary to, 
DIAGNOS. 

■ Media: Royalties revenue from an application developed by DIAGNOS, named DHS (Dynamic Hit Scoring). DHS algorithms mine 
data from patterns which exist in new songs and compare those patterns to songs that have been recent hits in the US. Currently, 
DHS is showcased on the Hitlab.com website.  

■ Consulting:  DIAGNOS provides a range of statistical and software consulting services, specializing in multimedia mining, 
segmentation, profiling, prediction and targeting. 

The Corporation’s main office is located at 7005 Taschereau Blvd., Suite 340, Brossard, Quebec, Canada. DIAGNOS’ shares are listed 
on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol ADK. More information concerning DIAGNOS is available on the corporate website at 
www.diagnos.com and the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 
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Natural resources (CARDS) 
 
The majority of DIAGNOS’ revenues are generated from services rendered to exploration companies active in the mining industry.  
DIAGNOS uses its proprietary software application named CARDS (Computer Aided Resources Detection System) to help mineral 
exploration professionals identify areas of similarity to known areas of mineralization with a high statistical probability. In combination 
with modern exploration techniques, CARDS is a tool intended to save both money and time by generating priority targets for 
exploration. These target areas are presented in either two dimensions (2D) or in three dimensions (3D). In addition to target 
generation, DIAGNOS offers project management services including geological consulting services. Over the years, 61 mining 
exploration entities have used the services from DIAGNOS. 
 

Illustration of CARDS 2D 

 

Illustration of CARDS 3D 

 
 

As part of our business development strategy, we are focusing our efforts on showcasing and demonstrating our CARDS technology 
mainly to exploration companies active in Northern Quebec. On October 25, 2011, the Corporation announced the signing of a $3.54 
million service agreement, consisting of $540,000 to analyse data related to almost 64,000 square kilometres of land within the 
boundaries of the “Plan Nord”, a major economic development project announced on May 9, 2011 by the Quebec government, and 
$3,000,000 of field work to validate the results. The territory that the Plan Nord covers encompasses all of Quebec's territory north of 
the 49th parallel. It covers nearly 1.2 million square kilometres and accounts for roughly 72% of Quebec's geographic area. Considering 
that this territory was less explored in the past, the CARDS solution can help guide exploration crews to the mineral zones with the 
highest potential. 
 
We will also continue to acquire mining claims based on the results from our CARDS technology on the data related to these claims.  
The most interesting properties will then be promoted to our prospects and existing clients.  On December 13, 2011, the Corporation 
announced an agreement with a Canadian mining exploration company, giving it the option to acquire 100% of the interest in its Currie 
and Lac Madeleine properties located in the province of Quebec’s Lebel-sur-Quévillon region. On February 23, 2012, the Corporation 
announced the sale of 56 mineral claims in the province of Quebec’s Abitibi region to Copper One Inc. 
 
Under specific agreements, DIAGNOS is entitled to receive payments arising from economic resource discoveries made as a result of 
the use of CARDS. These royalties are payable in shares, cash and/or in net smelter returns on revenues derived from mining 
operations within the limits of the properties as defined in the agreements. As at March 31, 2012, DIAGNOS had a portfolio of 23 mining 
royalty agreements compared to 22 as at March 31, 2011. 
 
Healthcare (CARA) 
 
The Corporation has developed a proprietary set of algorithms and associated platforms to assist eye specialists in the detection of 
diabetic retinopathy. Retinopathy, which affects the blood vessels in the eye, is the most serious and most frequent of eye diseases 
among diabetics. Diabetes is the leading cause of blindness among adults under 65. According to the World Health Organization,  
one in ten adults worldwide has diabetes. 
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The application is named CARA, which stands for “Computer Aided Retinal Analysis”. The Corporation’s management is confident that 
this application will contribute to the increase in revenue streams based on the following factors: 
 
! Screening of diabetics for diabetic retinopathy is currently done, for the most part, manually and therefore is expensive and 

inefficient. 
! Automating the process leads to better outcomes for diabetics and savings for the healthcare system. 
 
CARA is licensed for commercialization in Canada by Health Canada, in the United States of America by the US Food and Drug 
Administration and, since November 2011, in the European Union following the issuance of a CE (Conformité Européenne) certificate. 
 
The CARA suite of applications allows an eye care specialist to more clearly visualize both normal retinal landmarks (optic nerve, 
vascular system, macula, fovea), as well as pathological changes (exudates, haemorrhages, micro-aneurisms, neo-vascularisation). 
 

Left: Regular image from standard mydriatic or non-mydriatic camera.  Right: CARA enhanced image. 
 

 
 
CARA highlights all physical features on a diagnostic image of the retina to make a diagnosis more obvious to the appropriate 
professionals, or to triage images of patients who should consult a qualified specialist without delay.  
 
Given the nature of healthcare systems and of the technology we are marketing, management has taken the following approach to build 
an effective sales pipeline:  
 
! Generate direct sales to field-prove the product and service.  
! Generate CARA trials with influencers and key opinion leaders.  
! Sign sales distribution agreements with local representatives who know the intricacies of their local markets.  
! Actively support resellers, in particular by assisting them with trials and closing sales, thereby greatly extending the territory covered 

without a large internal team.  
! Sign channel agreements with key equipment manufacturers and other “vertical” partners capable of jointly offering a turn-key 

solution to clients. 
 
DIAGNOS’ healthcare business unit is currently working on refining the CARA technology platform including continued improvement 
and testing of existing algorithms, improvement of the web interface, and continued execution of our regulatory strategy, as well as 
business development activities including successful execution of field trials with prospective customers, presence at medical 
conferences, development of relationships with governments and NGOs, and identification and training of resellers. As part of our 
business development strategy, we are focusing our efforts on promoting CARA to decision-makers in the public sector as well as in the 
private sector targeting large healthcare insurance companies. We will also focus our efforts on promoting CARA to people with 
diabetes through ad-aware campaigns and programs using the power of the social medias to communicate directly with diabetics 
worldwide.  
 
DIAGNOS now has a presence either directly or through resellers in North America (Canada, USA and Mexico), Europe (France) and 
Asia (Vietnam and some countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council).  
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Media (DHS) 
 
The Corporation has developed a set of algorithms that can predict if a song has the potential to become a commercial hit. This 
technology is called DHS, which stands for “Dynamic Hit Scoring”. DHS breaks down a song into variables such as pitch, tempo, etc. 
and compares its structure to the songs from the top 100 Billboard® charts over a period of six years. The more the song’s patterns 
resemble those of hits, the higher it scores. DHS technology is showcased on the Hitlab.com website. Hitlab is an online lab where 
musicians can come and test out their songs to find out if they have a potential hit on their hands. 
 
Under an agreement with the promoters of Hitlab.com, the Corporation is entitled to receive a royalty of $3 per song analysed using the 
DHS technology. 
 
Consulting services 
 
DIAGNOS provides a broad range of statistical and software consulting services to corporations in multimedia, natural resources, 
healthcare and other sectors, for such purposes as segmentation, profiling, prediction and targeting. DIAGNOS also develops custom 
data mining applications and solutions based on client needs. 
 
Summary of annual results 
 
The following financial information for the three most recently completed fiscal years is derived from the Corporation’s financial 
statements. Information up to March 31, 2011 was restated to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which 
were adopted by the Corporation on April 1, 2011. 

 
 

March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011 March 31, 2010 

 $ 

Revenue 1,327,820 1,074,513 358,073 

Net loss 2,192,979 1,307,454 2,079,081 

Comprehensive loss 2,247,271 1,272,929 1,917,399 

Comprehensive loss per share 0.04 0.02 0.04 

Assets 2,651,647 1,513,768 2,273,691 
 

Summary of quarterly results 
 
The following financial information for the eight most recently completed three-month periods is derived from the Corporation’s financial 
statements. Information up to March 31, 2011 was restated to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which 
were adopted by the Corporation on April 1, 2011. 
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2012 2011 

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

March 31, 
2012 

Dec. 31, 
2011 

Sept. 30, 
2011 

June 30, 
2011 

March 31, 
2011 

Dec. 31, 
2010 

Sept. 30, 
2010 

June 30, 
2010 

 $ 

Revenue 537,739  471,624  186,863  131,594  441,002  224,272  273,939  135,300  

Net (loss) income (438,359) (472,878) (558,938) (722,804) 16,976  (265,198) (540,907) (518,325) 

Comprehensive (loss) 
income 

(417,734) (460,795) (590,355) (778,387) (315,589) 53,719  (513,849) (497,210) 

Comprehensive (loss) 
income per share 

(0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) 0.00  (0.01) (0.01) 

 

Overall performance 
 
This section provides an analysis of the Corporation’s financial performance, financial condition and cash flows during the period 
covered by this MD&A. 
 
Net results 
The comparative financial information for the three-month period and the year ended March 31, 2012, contained in this section, is 
derived from the Corporation’s financial statements. 
 

 Three-month period ended March 31,  Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011  2012 2011 
 $  $ 
 
Revenue 

 
537,739  

 
441,002  

 
1,327,820  

 
1,074,513  

Cost of goods sold 34,749  -   104,541  24,950  
     
Gross profit 502,990  441,002  1,223,279  1,049,563  
     
Expenses 966,680  662,866  3,443,272  2,865,827  
Interest income 25,331  1,876  27,014  8,790  
Gain on disposal of investments -  236,964  -  500,020  
     
Net (loss) income  (438,359) 16,976  (2,192,979) (1,307,454) 
     
Variation in net loss (455,335) (885,525) 

 
The negative variance in net loss of $455,335 for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012, despite the increase of $61,988 in 
gross profit, is mainly attributable to the decrease of $236,964 in gain from disposals of investments, the increase in business 
development expenses related to the market introduction of CARA, the increase in research and development expenses related to 
CARA and the increase in loss on receivables payable in shares.  
 
The negative variance in net loss of $885,525 or 68% for the year ended March 31, 2012, despite the increase of $173,716 in gross 
profit, is mainly attributable to the decrease of $500,020 in gain from disposals of investments, the increase in business development 
expenses related to the market introduction of CARA, the increase in research and development expenses related to CARA and the 
increase in loss on receivables payable in shares. 
 
When evaluating its overall financial performance, the Corporation’s analysis is based on the following key performance indicators: 

■ capacity to increase revenues 

■ capacity to generate positive cash flows from operating activities 

■ capacity to innovate 
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Capacity to increase revenues 
 
To increase its revenues, the Corporation strives to generate sales from CARA (healthcare) and CARDS (natural resources) in existing 
and new geographical markets.  
 

Revenues per sector 

Comparative revenue figures, per sector, for the three-month period and the year ended March 31, 2012, are detailed as follows: 

 
 Three-month period ended March 31,  Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011 Variance  2012 2011 Variance 
  $  $ 
 
Natural resources (CARDS) 485,831 436,442 49,389    1,174,135 930,738 243,397  
Healthcare – Services 
(CARA) 1,180 560 620    4,378 875 3,503  

Healthcare – Equipment 50,728 - 50,728    139,860 27,150 112,710  

Media (DHS) - 4,000 (4,000)   9,447 57,250 (47,803) 

Consulting - - -    - 58,500 (58,500) 

Total 537,739 441,002 96,737   1,327,820 1,074,513 253,307  
 

 
Trade and royalties revenues  

The following table presents the comparative revenues earned from trade activities and from royalties for the three-month period and 
the year ended March 31, 2012: 
 

 
 Three-month period ended March 31,  Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011  2012 2011 
  Trade Royalties Trade Royalties  Trade Royalties Trade Royalties 
  $  $ 
 
Natural resources 
(CARDS) 485,831 - 436,442 -  1,174,135 - 930,738 - 

Healthcare – 
Services (CARA) 1,180 - 560 -  4,378 - 875 - 

Healthcare – 
Equipment 50,728 - - -  139,860 - 27,150 - 

Media (DHS) - - - 4,000  - 9,447 50,000 7,250 

Consulting - - - -  - - 58,500 - 
Sub total 537,739 - 437,002 4,000  1,318,373 9,447 1,067,263 7,250 
Total 537,739 441,002  1,327,820 1,074,513 
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Revenues per segment 

The following table presents the comparative segmented revenues by geographical sector for the three-month period and the year 
ended March 31, 2012: 
 

 Three-month period ended March 31, Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
     

Canada 497,259 416,002 1,232,699 1,049,513 
United States of America 39,705 - 39,705 - 
Chile - 25,000 26,650 25,000 
France 775 - 16,081 - 
Vietnam - - 12,000 - 
Mexico - - 685 - 

 537,739 441,002 1,327,820 1,074,513 
 

Gross profit 

The following table presents the comparative gross profits for the year ended March 31, 2012: 
 

  Year ended March 31, 2012 

  
CARDS CARA Equipment DHS Consulting Total 

$ 

Revenues  1,174,135  4,378  139,860  9,447  -  1,327,820  

Cost of goods sold  -  -  (104,541) -  -  (104,541) 

Gross profit 
 1,174,135  4,378  35,319  9,447  -  1,223,279  

 100% 100% 25% 100% -  92% 

 

  Year ended March 31, 2011 

  
CARDS CARA Equipment DHS Consulting Total 

$ 

Revenues  930,738  875  27,150  57,250  58,500  1,074,513  

Cost of goods sold  -  -  (24,950) -  -  (24,950) 

Gross profit 
 930,738  875  2,200  57,250  58,500  1,049,563  

 100% 100% 8% 100% 100% 98% 

 

Backlog 

The Corporation’s backlog provides an indicator when forecasting short term revenues. The backlog comprises sales bookings of 
products and services not yet delivered or rendered. The following table presents the comparative evolution of the backlog for the year 
ended March 31, 2012: 
 

   2012 2011 

  
CARDS CARA Equipment DHS Total 

$ 

Opening backlog  334,534  -  25,800  -  360,334  141,234  

Bookings  1,008,669  4,378  139,860  9,447  1,162,354  1,293,613  

Forfeitures  (125,000) -  (25,800) -  (150,800) -  

Revenues  (1,174,135) (4,378) (139,860) (9,447) (1,327,820) (1,074,513) 

Ending backlog  44,068  -  -  -  44,068  360,334  
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Capacity to generate positive cash flows from operating activities 
 
To generate positive cash flows from its operating activities, the Corporation strives to increase sales receipts and closely monitor 
disbursements. The following table contains information taken from the Corporation’s financial statements and details the cash flows 
derived from operating activities: 
 

  Year ended March 31, 

  2012 2011 
  $ 
 
 

  

Net loss  (2,192,979) (1,307,454) 
 
Items not affecting cash 
 Amortization of capital assets 
 Amortization of intangible assets 
 (Gain) loss on sale of intangible assets 
  Revaluation of short-term investments 
  Stock-based compensation expense 
  Gain on disposals of investments 

 
 

63,591  
17,764  
(1,585) 
(3,899) 

264,715  
-  

 
 

64,550  
61,390  

3,914  
3,097  

348,973  
(500,020) 

   
 (1,852,393) (1,325,550) 
   
Net change in non-cash operating working capital items   
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable  18,241  (128,926) 
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses  (1,451) 5,885  
Decrease (increase) in inventories  (47,639) -  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable  17,538  45,200  
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues  (40,971) (5,450) 

   
 (1,906,675) (1,408,841) 

 
The Corporation’s current level of revenues is not sufficient to cover its expenses, thus the negative cash flows generated from 
operating activities. The Corporation's ability to generate positive cash flows is dependent on achieving and maintaining profitable 
operations. Management believes that the operating activities will continue to generate negative cash flows in the coming months. 
Since inception, through issuances of shares and stock warrants, the Corporation has been able to finance its activities and operate 
on a continuous basis.  
 
Capacity to innovate 
To improve existing products and innovate, the Corporation has in place a team of scientists dedicated to the development of CARA 
and CARDS. The Corporation benefits from research and development (R&D) tax credits where approximately 25% of its R&D 
expenses are refunded by the Government of Quebec.  
 
For the comparative year ended March 31, 2012, refundable tax credit provisions in proportion to the overall R&D expenses represent: 
 
 Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011 
   
R&D expenses ($) 793,959 614,125 
R&D tax credit provisions ($) 192,026 178,206 
R&D tax credit in proportion to R&D expenses 24% 29% 

 
The R&D tax credits percentage in proportion to R&D expenses is expected to stay at around 25% in the foreseeable future. 
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Expenses analysis 
 
The comparative financial information on expenses, for the three-month period and the year ended March 31, 2012, contained in this 
table is derived from the Corporation’s financial statements and is followed by an analysis of the material variances. 
 

 Three-month period ended March 31, Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011 ∆ 
2012 2011 ∆ 

 $ $ 
      
General, sales and administrative 694,371  488,112  42% 2,464,326  2,099,435  17% 

Research and development 207,585  162,469  28% 793,959  614,125  29% 

Tax credits on research and 
development expenses (63,276) (59,675) 6% (192,026) (178,206) 8% 

Geology 62,452  42,100  48% 240,629  204,533  18% 
Loss on receivables payable in 

shares 55,029  -  100% 55,029  -  100% 

Amortization of capital assets 16,139  15,757  2% 63,591  64,550  -1% 

Amortization of intangible assets (5,620) 14,103  -140% 17,764  61,390  -71% 

 966,680  662,866  46% 3,443,272  2,865,827  20% 
 
General, sales and administrative 
 
The increase of 17%, or $364,891, for the year ended March 31, 2012, is mainly due to the increase in business development 
expenses related to the market introduction of CARA and the increase in salaries and directors’ fees. 
 
Research and development 
 
The increase of 29%, or $179,834, for the year ended March 31, 2012, is mainly attributable to the development of new features for 
CARA and the increase in salaries. 
 
Geology 
 
The increase of 18%, or $36,096, for the year ended March 31, 2012, is mainly due to the increase in the number of employees and 
travel expenses amid the increase in new exploration sales contracts in the past year. 
 
Loss on receivables payable in shares 
 
The amount of $55,029, for the three-month period and the year ended March 31, 2012, arose from the difference between the value of 
the shares received as payment for a receivable and the nominal value of the receivable. In 2011, no receivables were paid in shares. 
 
Amortization of intangible assets 
 
The decrease of 71%, or $43,626, for the year ended March 31, 2012, is mainly related to the non-renewal of certain low potential 
mining claims. 
 



Diagnos Inc. 
 

 13 

Financial position analysis 
 
The comparative financial information, as at March 31, 2012, contained in this section is derived from the Corporation’s financial 
statements. 
 

 As at  
 March 31, 2012  March 31, 2011 
 $ 

   
Current assets 2,282,790  1,202,386  
Non-current assets 368,857  311,382  

Total assets 2,651,647  
 

1,513,768  

    
Current liabilities 308,156  331,589  
Shareholders’ equity 2,343,491  1,182,179  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,651,647   1,513,768  

 
Working capital and liquidity 
 
As at March 31, 2012, the working capital, defined by current assets less current liabilities, amounts to $1,974,634 compared to 
$870,797 as at March 31, 2011. The positive variance of $1,103,837 is mainly attributable to the increase in cash of $3,216,200 
following the closing of a private placement on May 26, 2011 and the decrease of $1,906,675 in cash flows from operating activities.  
 
Based on available liquidity and anticipated sales activities as at June 27, 2012, the Corporation should be able to meet its financial 
obligations, as they come due, for the next twelve months. 
 
Commitments 
 
Under the terms of operating lease agreements for its offices which will expire September 2014, the Corporation is committed to make 
payments of $250,500.. As at March 31, 2012, the Corporation has not entered into any other off-balance sheet arrangement. 
 
Share information 
 
As at March 31, 2012, the number of common shares and convertible securities outstanding is: 
 

Common shares 63,823,689 
Stock options  4,843,684 
Stock warrants 5,745,173 
 74,412,546 

 
Transactions between related parties 
 
The Corporation’s related parties include the wholly owned subsidiaries as well as the Corporation’s key management personnel. Key 
management personnel include directors and officers. During the period no transaction took place between the Corporation and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries. Total compensation paid to key management personnel is shown below: 
 

 Three-month period ended March 31, Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
     

Base salary 193,516 113,858 687,318 598,529 
Stock based compensation 4,885 36,305 150,087 175,445 
Incentives 30,500 - 125,650 25,000 
Sales commissions 4,642 25,986 56,202 74,624 
Directors’ fees 27,000 - 56,500 - 

 260,543 176,149 1,075,757 873,598 
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Significant accounting policies 
 
a) Revenue recognition 

 
Data mining and project management services generally involve the delivery of services and products. Revenue derived from 
services is recognized over the period in which the services are rendered when collection is reasonably assured. Revenue derived 
from products is recognized upon delivery to the customer. Any unbilled services rendered are presented under “Work in progress” 
on the consolidated statement of financial position. Any amount invoiced before the delivery of services or goods is presented under 
“Deferred revenue” on the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 
Revenue from the sale of options on mineral exploration claims is recognized upon transfer of rights to the customer. Any amount 
invoiced which does not meet the revenue recognition conditions related to this type of sale is presented under “Deferred revenue” 
on the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
Gain or loss from the sale of mineral claims is recognized when the title of ownership is transferred to the customer. Any amount 
invoiced which does not meet the revenue recognition conditions related to this type of sale is presented under “Deferred revenue” 
on the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
Where the arrangement includes multiple separate elements, the Corporation evaluates these arrangements to determine whether 
the multiple elements have value for the customer. In these cases, revenue is allocated to each element based on their fair values 
and recognized when the above-noted revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied. 
 
In any situation, when the anticipated costs of a contract are more likely than not to exceed the total revenue from the contract, then 
a provision for the anticipated loss is recognized in the period in which it occurs. 
 
Revenue recognition requires making significant estimates when revenue is recognized over a period of time or when the 
arrangement includes multiple elements. For revenue recognized over a period of time, management makes estimates concerning 
the projected costs, the projected profit margin and the percentage of completion. When the arrangement includes multiple 
elements, management makes estimates concerning the fair value of each element based on the characteristics of each 
arrangement and the market conditions. Estimates are regularly reviewed and revised by management to ensure their accuracy. 
 

b) Stock-based compensation and warrant valuation 
 
The Corporation recognizes the fair value of stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments as compensation expense 
determined in accordance with the Black - Scholes valuation model. The compensation expense arising from stock options granted 
is amortized according to the graded vesting method and is reported under “General, sales and administrative” in the consolidated 
statement of earnings and comprehensive income with a corresponding accretion to reserve. Upon exercise of stock options, the 
accumulated compensation is reduced from reserve and added to share capital. 
 
The fair value of warrants issued is measured and accounted for using the Black - Scholes valuation model with a corresponding 
adjustment to reserve.  Upon exercise of warrants, the value of those warrants is reduced from reserve and added to share capital. 

 
Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  
 
For all periods up to March 31, 2011, the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Standards (CGAAP). The audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 are 
the first prepared in accordance to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Corporation’s date of transition to IFRS is 
April 1, 2010, that is, the date of the beginning of the earliest comparative period. The Corporation prepared its opening statement of 
financial position as at that date. The date of IFRS adoption by the Corporation is April 1, 2011. Reconciliations between IFRS and 
CGAAP are presented in the notes to the March 31, 2012 annual consolidated financial statements. 
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Financial instruments and risk management 

Fair value hierarchy 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position are classified using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following 
levels: 

! Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  

! Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);  

! Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).  

 
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instrument is classified 
at the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. 
 
The following tables present the financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position 
classified using the fair value hierarchy described above: 

 
 As at March 31, 2012 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total financial assets 

at fair value 
$ 

Financial assets     
Short-term investments 1,701,981 - - 1,701,981 
Investments – shares  271,792 - - 271,792 

Total financial assets 1,973,773 - - 1,973,773 
 
During the period, there has been no transfer of amounts between Level 1 and Level 2. 
 

 As at March 31, 2011 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total financial assets 

at fair value 
$ 

Financial assets     
Short-term investments 455,229 - - 455,229 
Investments – shares  200,584 - - 200,584 

Total financial assets 655,813 - - 655,813 
 

Risks 

The Corporation is exposed to risks which could have an impact on its capacity to reach its strategic growth objectives. The 
Corporation strives to control and mitigate its financial risks through management practices that require the identification and analysis 
of the risks related to its operations. 
 
The following describes the Corporation’s main financial risks: 

Credit Risks 

In the normal course of business, the Corporation's exposure to credit risk results from the possibility that a client or financial 
institution may default, in part or in whole, on their financial obligations, as they come due.  



Diagnos Inc. 
 

 16 

Cash and short-term investments  

Cash as well as short-term investments are mainly risk-free or low risk investments, such as cash and guaranteed term deposits held 
with recognized financial institutions. None of these short-term investments consist of asset-backed commercial paper. Consequently, 
management considers the credit risk related to cash and short-term investments to be minimal. 

Clients 

In the normal course of business, the Corporation grants credit to its clients. The Corporation carries out credit checks on its clients 
and establishes allowances for doubtful accounts. For other accounts receivable, the Corporation determines, on a continuing basis, 
the probable losses and establishes a provision for losses based on the estimated realizable value.  

As at March 31, 2012, 93% of accounts receivable from customers was broken down between two clients active in the mining 
exploration industry (97% of accounts receivable from seven clients active in the mining exploration industry as at March 31, 2011, 
42% of accounts receivable from two clients active in the mining exploration industry as at April 1, 2010). It should be noted that given 
the specialization of the Corporation’s market niche, it is most likely that such concentration risk will continue. However, from one 
year to the next, it is rare that the same clients make up this concentration. Despite the concentration of its clients, the credit risk is 
mitigated through monitoring and the measures available to the Corporation, as previously described. 

Additionally, as at March 31, 2012: 

! 93% of the net trade receivables are over 90 days old (22% as at March 31, 2011, 38% as at April 1, 2010); 

! accounts receivable from customers exceeding the normal payment terms of 30 days for which no allowance was applied 
represented 0% of the net accounts receivable from customers (40% or $77,455 as at March 31, 2011, 39% or $22,575 
as at April 1, 2010). 

Consequently, management considers the credit risk related to accounts receivable to be concerning. 

Liquidity Risks 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation cannot meet its obligations as they come due. To fund its liquidity requirements, the 
Corporation uses cash flows from operations and issuance of shares. In addition, the Corporation’s policy is to target contracts that 
will generate positive cash flows throughout their execution. 

As at March 31, 2012, accounts payable that were due in the next 12 months totalled $266,593 (March 31, 2011 - $249,055, April 1, 
2010 – $203,855).  

Considering the available liquidity to meet its obligations, the Corporation's exposure to liquidity risk is nominal.  

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the adverse consequences of interest rate changes on the Corporation’s cash flows, financial position and 
income. Interest rate changes directly impact the fair value of the fixed interest rate accounts of the financial statements.  

As at March 31, 2012, the Corporation's exposure to interest rate risk is summarized as follows: 

Short-term investments Fixed interest rate 
Accounts receivable Non-interest bearing 
Accounts payable   Non-interest bearing 

 

Market Risk related to Exchange Rate Fluctuations Risk 

During the period, almost all sales and purchases were made using the Canadian dollar. Consequently, management considers the 
exchange rate fluctuation risk to be minimal. 
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Other risks 
 
The Corporation is exposed to other risks related to its general activities and to the market introduction of CARA.  
 
With regards to the Corporation’s general activities: 
 
! Profitability - The Corporation has not realized any profits from its operations since its inception. However, the Corporation has been 

able to operate on a continuous basis. The Corporation's ability to continue is dependent on financing and on achieving and 
maintaining profitable operations. 
 

! Nature of services – The Corporation offers data mining and interpretation services based on proprietary data mining software 
applications. Data mining is mainly used to extract knowledge from a set of data. This extraction of knowledge is an interpretation of 
a given situation with the assistance of a software program. As with many software applications, the results have to be reviewed and 
validated by the client’s staff. When rendering data mining services to its clients, the Corporation mitigates the perception of risk by 
including disclaimer clauses and warranty limitations to indicate clearly the client’s responsibility towards the results. 

 
! Intellectual Property – The market in which the Corporation competes may include new or existing entrants that own, or claim to 

own, intellectual property, and the Corporation may have to defend itself which can be time-consuming and costly. In some cases, 
DIAGNOS may be unable to protect its proprietary technology adequately against unauthorized third-party use or copying through 
reverse-engineering processes which could adversely affect its competitive position. Additionally, DIAGNOS may be faced with 
individuals and groups who have purchased intellectual property assets for the sole purpose of making claims of infringement and 
attempting to extract substantive settlements from established companies. 
 

! Litigation and disputes – In the normal course of its activities, the Corporation may be party to various legal proceedings and 
disputes with customers and suppliers. Legal proceedings may include undetected errors or malfunctions of our services and 
products, or claims relating to applicable securities laws. A product liability or securities class action could negatively impact our 
business because of the costs of defending the lawsuit, diversion of employees’ time and attention, and potential damage to our 
reputation. The Corporation’s insurance policy may not cover all potential claims, or may not be adequate to cover all costs incurred 
in defence of potential claims or to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed. 
 

! Tax credits programs – DIAGNOS benefits from research and development (R&D) tax credits where approximately 25% of its R&D 
expenses are refunded under a specific program sponsored by the government of the province of Quebec. Amendments to this 
program which would reduce the scope of expenses eligible for refund, or its termination, will result in net increases in R&D 
expenses. Additionally, audits by tax authorities are performed from time to time and may result in negative impacts on our balance 
sheet. 
 

! Investing activities – The Corporation accepts payment in shares from clients for services rendered. Shares traded on a public or 
private market are subject to market volatility. The Corporation’s policy regarding investments in shares is to benefit from increases 
in their value. The Corporation sells shares when there are clear indications that any decrease in value is permanent. The 
Corporation may also sell or liquidate those investments to fund operating activities. 
 

! Volatility of markets – The shares of the Corporation are traded on the TSX Venture market and, as with any shares traded on a 
public market, are subject to volatility. 
 

! Human resources – The Corporation must attract and retain highly skilled employees and partners with software development and 
data mining knowledge to be able to stay ahead of competition and up to date with technology changes. 
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With regards to the introduction of CARA: 
 
! Market acceptance – CARA success will depend upon achieving market acceptance in a changing healthcare environment. There 

can be no assurance that CARA will be accepted and that DIAGNOS will be able to respond effectively to changes in technology or 
customers demands. 
 

! Regulatory approvals – Numerous statutes and regulations govern the manufacture and sale of medical or healthcare products in 
Canada, the United States and other countries. The process of obtaining necessary regulatory approvals can be lengthy, expensive, 
and uncertain. 
 

! Product interaction and product support – CARA is an in-house hosted web-based application that integrates fundus cameras from 
leading camera suppliers with an image processing engine over a secure connection. New camera products or new features on 
existing products may affect compatibility of CARA and may require additional development work or support to insure adaptability. 
Lack of support or termination of relationships with the leading fundus camera manufacturers would negatively impact our business. 
 

! Sales strategy – The Corporation marketing plan is to market services from CARA worldwide. To achieve this goal, DIAGNOS has 
chosen to rely mainly on resellers. If the Corporation is unable to build and support effective distribution channels, sales will most 
likely be negatively impacted or delayed and the Corporation may have to review its sales strategy. 
 

! Foreign market environment – International operations carry certain risks and associated costs in managing a business abroad, 
such as complications in compliance with, and unexpected changes in, legal and regulatory restrictions or requirements, matters 
governing privacy of personal information, foreign currency fluctuations, difficulties in collecting accounts receivable, withholding 
taxes regulations, uncertainties of laws and enforcement relating to intellectual property and privacy rights and unauthorized copying 
of software. 
 

! Reimbursement of healthcare costs – Depending on the country’s regulations with regard to the reimbursement of healthcare costs 
by public or private organizations, services from CARA might not be approved for reimbursement or be subject to specific limits.   
 

! Budgets and forecasts – Sales forecasts are currently prepared, for the most part, from our appreciation and interpretation of the 
addressable screening markets for retinopathy and are not based on firm orders. Additionally, the Corporation is assuming that it will 
benefit from repetitive revenues based on the fact that patients screened for retinopathy need to be followed up on a regular basis. 
Actual results and renewal rates may differ from anticipated levels and any decline will negatively impact our business.  
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and other financial information relating to 
DIAGNOS Inc. (“the Corporation”).  These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and necessarily include amounts based on estimates and judgments. 
 
Our independent auditor, Samson Bélair / Deloitte & Touche, s.e.n.c.r.l., was engaged to express a professional opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. According to the independent auditor’s report, its audit is conducted in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards and includes tests and other procedures, which allow the auditor to report whether the 
consolidated financial statements prepared by management are presented fairly in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting. The Board of 
Directors discusses with the independent auditor the results of their audit and its independent auditor’s report and approves the 
issuance to Shareholders of the consolidated financial statements.  The Audit Committee has the responsibility to review the 
consolidated financial statements before their approval. 
 
The Board of Directors has approved the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

André Larente Marc-André Massue, CPA, CA 
President Vice-President Finance & CFO 
June 27, 2012 June 27, 2012 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Shareholders of DIAGNOS inc.: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DIAGNOS inc., which comprise the consolidated statements 
of financial position as at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and April 1, 2010, and the consolidated statements of earnings and 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 
31, 2011, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
OPINION 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of DIAGNOS inc. as at 
March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and April 1, 2010, and the financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended March 31, 
2012 and March 31, 2011 in accordance with IFRS. 
 
EMPHASIS OF MATTER 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Company 
has not realized annual profit from operations since its inception. The Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent 
on financing and on achieving and maintaining profitable operations. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, 
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Corporation's ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

1 

 
 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS  
MONTREAL, CANADA 
June 27, 2012 
 
(1) CPA auditor, CA public accountancy No. A119828 
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(in Canadian dollars) 
 

  As at  
 Note March 31, 2012  March 31, 2011  April 1, 2010 
  $ 

ASSETS       
       
Current       

Cash  275,553   347,250   256,313  
Short-term investments 5 1,701,981   455,229   1,286,766  
Accounts receivable 6 237,024   380,765   251,839  
Prepaid expenses  20,593   19,142   25,027  
Inventories 7 47,639   -   -  

  2,282,790  1,202,386   1,819,945  
       
Non-current       

Investments 8 271,795   200,587   348,182  
Capital assets 9 75,578   85,247   61,859  
Intangible assets  10 21,484   25,548   43,705  

  368,857  311,382   453,746  

Total assets 
 

2,651,647  
 
 

 
1,513,768  

 
2,273,691  

       
LIABILITIES       
       
Current       

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11 266,593   249,055   203,855  
Deferred revenue  41,563   82,534   87,984  

  308,156  331,589   291,839  
 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 
 

     

       
Share capital 12 15,237,681   12,640,362   12,446,792  
Reserve 13 4,313,856   3,502,592   3,222,906  
Deficit  (17,330,171)  (15,137,192)  (13,829,738) 
Investments revaluation reserve  122,125   176,417   141,892  

  2,343,491  1,182,179   1,981,852  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 
 

2,651,647  
 
 

 
1,513,768  

  
2,273,691  

 
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
 
 
Approved by the Board: 
 

  

Philip Renaud Olivier Lerolle 
Chairman Director 
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income 
(in Canadian dollars) 
 

  Year ended March 31, 

  2012 2011 
  $ 
 
Revenue 

 
1,327,820  

 
1,074,513  

Cost of goods sold  104,541  24,950  
   
Gross profit 1,223,279  1,049,563  
   
Expenses   

General, sales and administrative 2,464,326  2,099,435  
Research and development 793,959  614,125  
Tax credits on research and development (192,026) (178,206) 
Geology 240,629  204,533  
Loss on receivables payable in shares 55,029  -  
Amortization of capital assets 63,591  64,550  
Amortization of intangible assets 17,764  61,390  

 3,443,272  2,865,827  
 
Loss before other income 

 
(2,219,993) 

 
(1,816,264) 

   
Interest income 27,014  8,790  
Gain on disposal of investments -  500,020  
 27,014  508,810  
   
Net loss  (2,192,979) (1,307,454) 
   
Other comprehensive income (loss)   
Net (loss) gain arising from the revaluation of investments (54,292) 536,510  
Accumulated variances in fair value of investments at time of disposals -  (501,985) 
 (54,292) 34,525  
   
Comprehensive loss (2,247,271) (1,272,929) 

   
Basic and diluted comprehensive loss per share (0.04) (0.02) 

   

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 61,967,098  
 

52,258,364  
 
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
(in Canadian dollars) 

 

 Year ended March 31, 2012 

 
 

Share capital Reserve 
 

Deficit 

 
Investments 

revaluation reserve 
 

Total equity 
 $ 

Balance, beginning of year 12,640,362  3,502,592  (15,137,192) 176,417  1,182,179  

Net loss -  -  (2,192,979) -  (2,192,979) 

Other comprehensive loss -  -  -  (54,292) (54,292) 

Issuance of shares and warrants 2,549,405  666,795  -  -  3,216,200  

Issue expenses (108,957) (56,443) -  -  (165,400) 

Exercise of stock options 93,068  -  -  -  93,068  
Accumulated compensation expenses on 

stock options exercised 63,803  (63,803) -  -  -  

Stock-based compensation expense -  264,715  -  -  264,715  

Balance, end of year 15,237,681  4,313,856  (17,330,171) 122,125  2,343,491  

 
 Year ended March 31, 2011 

 
 

Share capital Reserve 
 

Deficit 

 
Investments 

revaluation reserve 
 

Total equity 
 $ 

Balance, beginning of year 12,446,792 3,222,906  (13,829,738) 141,892  1,981,852  

Net loss - -  (1,307,454) - (1,307,454) 

Other comprehensive loss - -  -  34,525  34,525  

Exercise of stock options 124,283 -  -  - 124,283  

Accumulated compensation expenses on 
stock options exercised 69,287 (69,287) -  - -  

Stock-based compensation expense - 348,973  -  - 348,973  

Balance, end of year 12,640,362 3,502,592  (15,137,192) 176,417  1,182,179  

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 



Diagnos Inc. 
 

 24

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(in Canadian dollars) 
 

  Year ended March 31, 

 Note 2012 2011 
 $ 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 

  

Net loss  (2,192,979) (1,307,454) 
 

Items not affecting cash 
 Amortization of capital assets 
 Amortization of intangible assets 
 (Gain) loss on sale of intangible assets 
   Revaluation of short-term investments 

Stock-based compensation expense 
   Gain on disposal of investments 

 
 

63,591  
17,764  
(1,585) 
(3,899) 

264,715  
-  

 
 

64,550  
61,390  

3,914  
3,097  

348,973  
(500,020) 

   
 (1,852,393) (1,325,550) 
   
Net change in non-cash operating working capital items 18 (54,282) (83,291) 
   
 (1,906,675) (1,408,841) 
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Additions to short-term investments (2,624,958) (886,153) 
Proceeds from disposals of short-term investments 1,382,105  1,712,628  
Proceeds from disposals of investments -  684,105  
Additions to capital assets (53,922) (87,938) 
Additions to intangible assets (14,355) (51,774) 
Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets 2,240  4,627  
   
 (1,308,890) 1,375,495  
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Issuance of shares and warrants, net of issue expenses 3,143,868  124,283  
   
Net change in cash (71,697) 90,937  
   
Cash, beginning of year 347,250  256,313  
   
Cash, end of year 275,553  347,250  

 
Non-cash transaction 
Value of payment in shares of customer receivables 125,500  -  

 
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at March 31, 2012 

 

1. Statutes of incorporation and nature of activities 
 
Diagnos Inc. (“the Corporation”) was incorporated under the Canada Corporation Business Act.  The main office is located at 7005 
Taschereau Blvd., suite 340, Brossard, Quebec, Canada. The Shares of the Corporation are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange. 
The Corporation provides data mining and interpretation services based on its proprietary suite of data mining software used to 
extract knowledge from historical data. These financial statements have been approved by the board of Directors on June 27, 2012. 
 
The current main applications are used: 
 
• to assist exploration companies in identifying mining deposits; 
• to assist health specialists in the detection of diabetic retinopathy; and 
• to help predict if a song has the potential to become a commercial hit. 

 
Going concern 

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes the realization of assets and 
discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.  The Corporation has not realized annual profit 
from operations since its inception. Through issuances of shares and stock warrants, the Corporation has been able to finance its 
activities and operate on a continuous basis. 
 
The Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on financing and on achieving and maintaining profitable 
operations. The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time.  These consolidated financial statements do not include 
any adjustments and reclassifications of assets and liabilities which might be necessary should the Corporation be unable to continue 
its operations. 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
DMS & Technologies Inc. and Diagnos USA Inc., and prepared using the significant accounting policies described in this note. These 
policies have been applied throughout the year unless otherwise stated. 
 
For all years up to March 31, 2011, the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Standards (CGAAP). The audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 
are the first prepared in accordance to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) (note 21). These consolidated financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with policies issued by IASB effective on March 31, 2012. These accounting policies applied 
to all periods. 

 
a) General 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and measured at historical cost, except for available-for-sale assets, 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. 
 

b) Revenue recognition 
Revenue represents amounts received and receivable from third parties for goods supplied to customers and for services 
rendered, except for allowances and discounts. 
 
Data mining and project management services generally involve the delivery of services and products. Revenue derived from 
services is recognized over the period in which the services are rendered, when collection is reasonably assured. Revenue 
derived from products is recognized upon delivery to the customer. Any unbilled services rendered are presented under “Work in 
progress” on the consolidated statements of financial position. Any amount invoiced before the delivery of services or goods is 
presented under “Deferred revenue” on the consolidated statements of financial position.  
 
Revenue from the sale of options on mineral exploration claims is recognized upon transfer of rights to the customer. Any amount 
invoiced which does not meet the revenue recognition conditions related to this type of sale is presented under “Deferred 
revenue” on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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Gain or loss from the sale of mineral claims is recognized when the title of ownership is transferred to the customer. Any amount 
invoiced which does not meet the revenue recognition conditions related to this type of sale is presented under “Deferred 
revenue” on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Where the arrangement includes multiple separate elements, the Corporation evaluates these arrangements to determine 
whether the multiple elements have value for the customer. In these cases, revenue is allocated to each element based on their 
fair values and recognized when the above-noted revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied. 
 
In any situation, when the anticipated costs of a contract are more likely than not to exceed the total revenue from the contract, 
then a provision for the anticipated loss is recognized in the period in which it occurs. 
 

c) Interest income 
Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.  
 

d) Investment tax credits 
The Corporation records investment tax credits when it believes it has complied with the eligibility requirements as set out in the 
income tax legislation of Canada and its provinces and collection is reasonably assured. Refundable investment tax credits are 
presented separately of research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive 
income. Investment tax credits related to capital expenditures are recorded in reduction of capital assets. 
 

e) Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being determined using the first in, first out method. 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. 
 
The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. The costs of purchase include the purchase price, import duties and non-recoverable taxes, 
and transport, handling and other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of finished goods, materials or services. 
 

f) Capital assets and amortization  
Capital assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization, impairment losses and related tax credits.  Historical 
cost includes all costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Computer equipment cost includes software that is integral to its 
functionality. 
 
Amortization of capital assets is provided on parts that have homogenous lives by using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives, as follows: 
 

 Annual rates 

Office furniture and equipments 20% 
Computer equipments 50% 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of the lease term and the useful life 

 
g) Intangible assets and amortization 

Intangible assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization, impairment losses and related tax credits.  Historical 
cost includes all costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 
 
Amortization of intangible assets is provided by using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, as follows: 
 

 Annual rates 

Mineral claims 50% 
Computer software 50% 
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h) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation assess whether there is any indication that an asset has suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 
the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Corporation 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent 
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
  
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not 
been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 
  
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 

i) Income taxes 
The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income tax.  Under this method, deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on deductible or taxable temporary differences between financial statement values and tax values 
of assets and liabilities using enacted or substantially enacted income tax rates expected to be in effect for the period in which the 
differences are expected to reverse. The Corporation establishes a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets if, based on 
available information, it is probable than not that some or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
 

j) Research and development expenses 
All expenses related to development activities, which do not meet generally accepted criteria for deferral, and research expenses 
are expensed as incurred.  Development expenses, which meet generally accepted criteria for deferral, are capitalized and 
amortized over the estimated period of benefit. For the comparative periods presented in these financial statements, all expenses 
related to development activities were expensed as incurred. 
 

k) Loss per share 
The loss per share is determined using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 
 
The fully diluted loss per share, which is calculated according to the treasury stock method, is equal to the basic loss per share 
due to the anti-dilution effect of the stock option plan. 

 
l) Stock-based compensation 

Stock-based compensation is recorded as an expense in the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income, 
using the fair value obtained by applying the Black - Scholes option pricing model, with a corresponding credit to reserve. The 
compensation expense is amortized according to the graded vesting method over the vesting period. Upon exercise of stock 
options, the accumulated compensation is reduced from reserve and added to share capital. 

 
m) Equity 

Share capital is recorded at the subscribed value of the shares issued.  
 
Reserve is comprised of stock-based compensation and issuance of stock warrants less accumulated stock-based compensation 
on exercise of stock options and the value of stock warrants exercised. 
 
Gains and losses related to the revaluation of certain financial instruments are included in the Investments revaluation reserve 
amount. 
 
Deficit includes the profits and losses from the current year and prior years. 
 
Costs related to the issuance of shares, share warrants or share options are recorded in equity, net of tax, as a deduction of the 
issuance proceeds. 
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n) Financial Instruments 

The Corporation aggregates its financial instruments into classes based on their nature and characteristics. Management 
determines the classification when the instruments are initially recognized, which is normally on the date of purchase. 
Consequently, the Corporation classified its financial assets and liabilities as follows: 
! Cash is classified as loans and receivables and is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
! Short-term investments are classified as financial assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (“FVTPL”) and are measured 

at fair value. Gains and losses from periodic revaluation are recognized through profit and loss; 
! Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

rate method; 
! Investments are classified as available for sale and are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in other 

comprehensive income (loss). In the case where the fair value cannot be determined, investments are measured and 
presented at cost. Investments in the form of securities from payment of trade receivables are measured at the receivable 
amount. Any difference between the receivable amount, at settlement date, and the fair value of the shares received is 
recognized in the statement of earnings (loss). Securities of privately-held companies are initially measured at cost and then 
valued at $1 due to the fact that the appraisal of these shares is not possible with available information; 

! Accounts payable are classified as other liabilities and are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method; and, 

! Transaction costs related to FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred. Transaction costs related to available-for-sale 
financial assets, held-to-maturity financial assets, other liabilities and loans and receivables are added to the carrying value of 
the asset or netted against the carrying value of the liability and are then recognized over the expected life of the instrument 
using the effective interest method. 

 
o) Leases 

A capital assets lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. Finance leases are recorded as an asset and a liability at the lower of the fair 
value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Finance lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. There is no finance lease as at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and April 1, 
2010. 

 
3. Changes in accounting policies not yet adopted 
 

a) Financial instruments 
In November 2009, the IASB has issued a new standard, IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is the first phase of the IASB’s 
three phase project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The standard provides guidance on 
the classification and measurement of financial liabilities, and requirements for the derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. IFRS 9 will be applied prospectively with transitional arrangements depending on the date of application. This new 
standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2015, but early adoption is permitted. The Corporation is 
currently evaluating the impact of adopting IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In December 2011, the IASB amended IFRS 7, Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to 
IFRS 7), to provide new disclosure requirements that are intended to help investors and other users to better assess the effect or 
potential effect of offsetting arrangements on a corporation's financial position. These amendments are effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of these amendments to IAS 19 on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

b) Fair value measurement 
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value 
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at 
the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on 
measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in many 
cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures. This new standard will be effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of 
adopting IFRS 13 on its consolidated financial statements. 
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c) Other comprehensive income presentation 
In June 2011, the IASB amended IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, providing guidance on items contained in other 
comprehensive income and their classification within other comprehensive income. These amendments to IAS 1 must be applied 
retrospectively for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of these 
amendments to IAS 1 on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
4. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
In the application of the Corporation’s significant accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make 
judgments, estimates, and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The following are the key estimates concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
year, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 
 
a) Revenue recognition 

Revenue recognition requires making significant estimates when revenue is recognized over a period of time or when the 
arrangement includes multiple deliverables. For revenue recognized over a period of time, management makes estimates 
concerning the projected costs, the projected profit margin and the percentage of completion. When the arrangement includes 
multiple deliverables, management makes estimates concerning the fair value of each element based on the characteristics of 
each arrangement and the market conditions. Estimates are regularly reviewed and revised by management to ensure their 
accuracy. 

 
b) Stock-based compensation 

Stock-based compensation involves the valuation of grants of stock options. The Corporation relies on the fair value obtained by 
applying the Black - Scholes option pricing model. This model requires making assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate 
(with a term that matches the expected life of the options), the expected stock price volatility, the expected life of the options and 
the expected dividend yield on the Corporation’s shares. Management also has to estimate the number of options that will 
eventually vest. 

 
c) Tax credits on research and development expenses 

The Corporation receivables include tax credits on research and development (R&D) expenses. Management has to make a 
critical judgment related to the eligibility of R&D expenses with regards to the provisions of the current tax credits programs. 

 
5. Short-term investments 
 

 As at 
 March 31,  March 31,  April 1, 
 2012  2011  2010 
 $ 
     
Tradable guaranteed investment certificates bearing interests at 1.20% to 
2.10% (March 31, 2011 – 2.11% and 3.10%) 1,601,532 251,864  - 

Guaranteed investment certificates, bearing interests at 1.31% (March 31, 
2011 – 0.15%, April 1, 2010 – 1.25% and 1.32%) and maturing November 
28, 2012 (March 31, 2011 – from November 30, 2011 to December 7, 
2011. April 1, 2010 – from November 16, 2010 to December 7, 2010) 

100,449 81,462  1,286,625 

Preferred shares - 121,903  - 
Money market funds - -  141 
 1,701,981 455,229  1,286,766 

 
Guaranteed investment certificates totalling $100,449 (March 31, 2011 - $81,462, April 1, 2010 - $80,723) are pledged as security for 
financial liabilities. 
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6. Accounts receivable 
 
 As at 
 March 31,  March 31,  April 1, 
 2012  2011  2010 
 $ 
Customers 69,078  193,290 121,035  
Tax credits on research and development expenses 171,400  186,700 193,339  
Sales taxes 3,700  - 13,040  
Other 875  775 930  
Allowance for doubtful accounts (8,029) - (76,505) 
 237,024  380,765 251,839  

 
All amounts are due in the short term. The net carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair value. 

 
As at March 31, 2012, certain customers’ balances became past due. These receivables were mainly from long-standing customers 
who had not as yet defaulted and who had not suffered any changes in their financial condition or whose payments were received 
after year end. The ageing of these accounts is as follows: 

 
 As at 
 March 31,  March 31,  April 1, 
 2012  2011  2010 
 $ 
0 to 29 days 775 19,500  21,955  
30 to 59 days - 96,335  -  
60 to 89 days - 17,406  418  
90 days or more 68,303 60,049  98,662  
 69,078 193,290  121,035  

 
The allowance for doubtful receivables represents the Corporation’s estimates of incurred losses arising from the failure or inability of 
customers to make payments when due. These estimates are based on the ageing of customer balances, specific credit 
circumstances and the Corporation’s historical bad debt experience. The bad debt expense is reported under “General, sales and 
administrative”. During the year, the allowance for doubtful accounts varied as follows: 

 
 Year ended March 31, 
 2012   2011 
 $ 

Balance, beginning of year -  76,505  
Payments received -  (76,505) 
Provision 8,029  -  
Balance, end of year 8,029  -  

 
7. Inventories 

 
The following table discloses the carrying amount of inventories by classification: 

 
 As at 
 March 31,  March 31,  April 1, 
 2012  2011  2010 
 $ 
Fundus cameras 47,639 - - 
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8. Investments 
 

  As at 
  March 31,  March 31,  April 1, 
 Number 2012  2011  2010 
  $ 

Shares of publicly traded 
companies  

1,216,666 (March 31, 2011 – 
241,667, April 1, 2010 – 1,691,079) 271,792 200,584 348,179 

Shares of private 
companies  

2,084,472 (March 31, 2011 & April 1, 
2010 – 2,084,472) 3 3 3 

  271,795 200,587 348,182 
 
The Corporation does not hold enough shares to have a significant influence over these companies.  
 
The number of shares that are subject to trading restrictions, as at March 31, 2012, amounts to 974,999 (March 31, 2011 – 0, April 1, 
2010 – 687,500). These restriction periods will end June 22, 2012 and July 28, 2012 (March 31, 2011 – none, April 1, 2010 – from 
April 28, 2010 to February 28, 2011). 
 
Investments are classified as available for sale and are measured at fair value. Variations in fair value are presented under “Other 
comprehensive income” on the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive loss. 
 
The following tables disclose a reconciliation of changes in investments: 

 
 Year ended March 31, 2012 

 Shares of publicly traded 
companies 

Shares of private 
companies Total 

 $ 

Balance, beginning of year 200,584  3 200,587  

Additions 125,500  - 125,500  
Change in fair value (54,292) - (54,292) 
Balance, end of year 271,792  3 271,795  

 
 
 Year ended March 31, 2011 

 Shares of publicly traded 
companies 

Shares of private 
companies Total 

 $ 

Balance, beginning of year 348,179  3 348,182  

Proceeds from disposals (684,105) - (684,105) 
Gain on disposals 501,985  - 501,985  
Change in fair value 536,510  - 536,510  
Accumulated revaluation at time of disposals (501,985) - (501,985) 
Balance, end of year 200,584  3 200,587  
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9. Capital assets 
 

The following tables disclose a reconciliation of changes in capital assets: 
 

 Year ended March 31, 2012 

 Office furniture and 
equipments 

Computer 
equipments 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

 $ 

Cost, beginning of year 106,127 394,178 30,604 530,909 

Additions 5,621 39,712 8,589 53,922 

Cost, end of year 111,748 433,890 39,193  584,831 

     

Accumulated amortization, beginning of 
year 82,758 335,026 27,878 445,662 

Amortization 10,823 52,409 359 63,591 

Accumulated amortization, end of year 93,581 387,435 28,237 509,253 

     

Net value at end of year 18,167 46,455 10,956 75,578 

 
 

 Year ended March 31, 2011 

 Office furniture and 
equipments 

Computer 
equipments 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

 $ 

Cost, beginning of year 101,414 313,744 27,813 442,971 

Additions 4,713 80,434 2,791 87,938 

Cost, end of year 106,127 394,178 30,604 530,909 

     

Accumulated amortization, beginning of 
year 71,710 281,589 27,813 381,112 

Amortization 11,048 53,437 65 64,550 

Accumulated amortization, end of year 82,758 335,026 27,878 445,662 

     

Net value at end of year 23,369 59,152 2,726 85,247 
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10. Intangible assets 
 

The following tables disclose a reconciliation of changes in intangible assets: 
 

 Year ended March 31, 2012 

 Mining assets Software Total 
 $ 

Cost, beginning of year 63,422  79,620 143,042  

Additions 8,215  6,140 14,355  
Disposals (3,040) - (3,040) 
Forfeitures (39,753) - (39,753) 

Cost, end of year 28,844  85,760 114,604  

    

Accumulated amortization, beginning of year 37,874  79,620 117,494  

Amortization 16,520  1,244 17,764  

Disposals (2,385) - (2,385) 

Forfeitures (39,753) - (39,753) 

Accumulated amortization, end of year 12,256  80,864 93,120  

    

Net value at end of year 16,588  4,896 21,484  

 
 

 Year ended March 31, 2011 

 Mining assets Software Total 
 $ 

Cost, beginning of year 223,367  78,945 302,312  

Additions 51,099  675 51,774  
Disposals (10,135) - (10,135) 
Forfeitures (200,909) - (200,909) 

Cost, end of year 63,422  79,620 143,042  

    

Accumulated amortization, beginning of year 184,792  73,815 258,607  

Amortization 55,585  5,805 61,390  

Disposals (1,594) - (1,594) 

Forfeitures (200,909) - (200,909) 

Accumulated amortization, end of year 37,874 79,620 117,494  

    

Net value at end of year 25,548 - 25,548  
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11. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

 As at 
 March 31,  March 31,  April 1, 
 2012  2011  2010 
 $ 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 96,570 86,388 85,946 
Salaries and benefits 164,407 126,975 114,077 
Government remittance 5,616 4,849 3,832 
Sales taxes - 30,843 - 
 266,593 249,055 203,855 

 
12. Share capital 

 
Share capital is comprised solely of common shares without par value of which 63,823,689 (March 31, 2011 - 52,343,343, 
April 1, 2010 – 51,857,510) are subscribed and issued. All the shares have the same rights in respect of the distribution of dividends 
and the repayment of capital. Each share confers the right to one vote at the annual general meeting. The Corporation is authorized to 
issue an unlimited number of common shares. 
 
On May 26, 2011, as part of a private placement, the Corporation issued 11,090,345 common shares and 5,745,173 stock warrants for 
a cash consideration of $3,216,200. 
 
The issued and paid share capital varied as follows: 
 

 Year ended March 31, 2012 

 
Number of common 

shares 
Common shares 

($) 

Balance, beginning of year 52,343,343 12,640,362  

Private placement 11,090,345 2,549,405  

Issue expenses - (108,957) 

Exercise of stock options 390,001 93,068  

Accumulated compensation expenses on options exercised - 63,803  

Balance, end of year 63,823,689 15,237,681  

 
 

 Year ended March 31, 2011 

 
Number of common 

shares 
Common shares 

($) 

Balance, beginning of year 51,857,510 12,446,792 

Exercise of stock options 485,833 124,283 

Accumulated compensation expenses on options exercised - 69,287 

Balance, end of year 52,343,343 12,640,362 

 
Capital management 
The Corporation closely manages its capital structure in conjunction with economic conditions in order to produce adequate returns on 
investments to its Shareholders. The key capital performance measures of the Corporation reside in its capability to meet its financial 
obligations and to invest in the development of its technology to stay competitive. 
 
The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital are to:  
 

• Maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations; 
• Deploy capital to provide an appropriate investment return to its shareholders; and 
• Maintain a capital structure that allows multiple financing options to the Corporation. 
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The Corporation defines its capital as follows: 
 

• Equity; 
• Cash; and, 
• Investments. 

 
In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Corporation may purchase shares for cancellation, issue shares, issue warrants, 
issue stock options and sell assets. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Corporation’s strategy remained unchanged from the previous year. 
 
Stock option plan  
The Corporation maintains a stock option plan for its directors, key employees and consultants by virtue of which they can acquire 
common shares.  The conditions of exercise are determined by the Board of Directors following the rules of the TSX Venture 
Exchange.  The stock options are granted at a price equal to the share price at the close of the stock market the day preceding the 
date of grant. 
 
The stock option plan provides that the maximum number of common shares, which may be reserved for issuance to any one 
participant pursuant to share options, may not exceed 5% of the common shares outstanding.  The maximum number of common 
shares that may be reserved for issuance to insiders of the Corporation may not exceed 10% of the common shares outstanding on 
the grant date.  The maximum number of stock options, which the Corporation is authorized to issue, is 8,000,000. As at March 31, 
2012, the outstanding number of stock options for issuance was 1,305,738 (March 31, 2011 – 1,185,735). 
  
The following table presents the changes which have occurred during the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011 with 
regard to the stock option plan. 
 

 Year ended 
March 31, 2012 

 Year ended 
March 31, 2011 

 

Number of 
stock options 

 
Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
($) 

 

Number of 
stock options 

 
Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
($) 

Outstanding, beginning of year 5,353,688   0.32  5,417,857   0.30 
Granted 1,400,000   0.31  1,439,000   0.37 
Exercised (390,001)  0.24  (485,833)  0.22 
Forfeited (1,520,003)  0.19  (1,017,336)  0.30 
Outstanding, end of year 4,843,684   0.32  5,353,688   0.32 

 
The compensation expense arising from stock options granted has been amortized according to the graded vesting method and is 
reported under “General, sales and administrative” on the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income. The 
compensation expense amount for the year ended March 31, 2012 is $264,715 (March 31, 2011 – $348,973) and the counterpart has 
been credited to reserve in the Shareholders' equity. 
 
Grants of stock options vest at 33.33% per year, commencing with the first anniversary of the grant.  The outstanding stock options at 
year end can be exercised up to February 26, 2017. 
 
The weighted average fair value of each stock option grant is estimated at $0.23 for the year ended March 31, 2012 (March 31, 2011 - 
$0.27) and is calculated using the Black - Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

Expected life: 5 years (March 31, 2011 – 5 years) Risk-free interest rate: 1.81% (March 31, 2011 – 2.68%) 
Dividend yield: 0% (March 31, 2011 – 0%) Volatility: 100% (March 31, 2011 – 91.7%) 

 
The expected volatility was calculated on the Corporation’s share prices over the last 5 years. 
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The following table summarizes information on stock options outstanding at March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011. 
 

  Options outstanding 
at March 31, 2012 

 Options exercisable 
at March 31, 2012 

Exercise price 
$ 

 Number 
of options 

outstanding 

 Weighted 
average remaining 

contractual life 
(in years) 

 Number 
of options 

exercisable 

 Weighted average 
exercise price 

$ 

         
0.14 – 0.21  1,248,684  2.3  914,455  0.19 
0.22 – 0.33  1,557,333  3.6  324,000  0.26 
0.34 – 0.51  1,887,667  2.7  914,999  0.43 
0.79 – 1.04  150,000  1.2  150,000  0.88 

  4,843,684    2,303,454  0.34 
 
 

  Options outstanding 
at March 31, 2011 

 Options exercisable 
at March 31, 2011 

Exercise price 
$ 

 Number 
of options 

outstanding 

 Weighted 
average remaining 

contractual life 
(in years) 

 Number 
of options 

exercisable 

 Weighted average 
exercise price 

$ 

         
0.14 – 0.21  1,682,020  3.0  774,897  0.19 
0.22 – 0.33  1,365,668  0.8  1,392,334  0.26 
0.34 – 0.51  2,116,000  3.6  503,667  0.47 
0.79 – 1.04  190,000  2.1  126,667  0.91 

  5,353,688    2,797,565  0.31 
 

13. Reserve 
 

 Year ended March 31, 2012 

 
Number of stock 

warrants 
Stock warrants 

($) 
Stock options 

($) 
Total 
($) 

Balance, beginning of year 3,000,000  2,036,745  1,465,847  3,502,592  

Private placement 5,745,173  666,795  -  666,795  

Issue expenses -  (56,443) -  (56,443) 

Stock-based compensation -  -  264,715  264,715  
Accumulated compensation on stock 

options exercised -  -  (63,803) (63,803) 

Forfeiture of stock warrants (3,000,000) -  -  -  
     

Balance, end of year 5,745,173  2,647,097  1,666,759  4,313,856  

 

 Year ended March 31, 2011 

 
Number of stock 

warrants 
Stock warrants 

($) 
Stock options 

($) 
Total 
($) 

Balance, beginning of year 3,000,000 2,036,745 1,186,161  3,222,906  

Stock-based compensation - - 348,973  348,973  
Accumulated compensation on stock 

options exercised - - (69,287) (69,287) 

     

Balance, end of year 3,000,000 2,036,745 1,465,847  3,502,592  
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Stock warrants 
During the year, as part of a private placement process, the Corporation issued 5,745,173 stock warrants entitling the holder to 
purchase one common share at the price of $0.40 per share.  The stock warrants will expire on November 25, 2012. The stock 
warrants were valued at $666,795 using the Black & Sholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions 
used on their issuance date: 

 
Expected life 2 years Risk-free interest rate 2.30% 
Dividend yield 0% Volatility 98.77% 

 
14. Commitments  
 

Under the terms of operating lease agreements for its offices which will expire September 2014, the Corporation is committed to 
make payments of $250,500, allocated as follows: 
 

2013 167,000 
2014 83,500 
 250,500 

 
The expense for the year is $167,000 for the operating lease agreements. 

 
15. Financial instruments and risk management 

a) Fair value hierarchy 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position are classified using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following 
levels: 
! Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
! Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);  
! Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).  
 
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instrument is 
classified at the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. 
 
The following tables present the financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial position 
classified using the fair value hierarchy described above: 

 
 As at March 31, 2012 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total financial assets 
at fair value 

 $ 
Financial assets     

Short-term investments 1,701,981 - - 1,701,981 
Investments – shares  271,792 - - 271,792 

Total financial assets 1,973,773 - - 1,973,773 
 
During the year, there has been no transfer of amounts between Level 1 and Level 2. 

 
 As at March 31, 2011 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total financial assets 
at fair value 

 $ 
Financial assets     

Short-term investments 455,229 - - 455,229 
Investments – shares  200,584 - - 200,584 

Total financial assets 655,813 - - 655,813 
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 As at April 1, 2010 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total financial assets 
at fair value 

 $ 
Financial assets     

Short-term investments 1,286,766 - - 1,286,766 
Investments – shares  348,179 - - 348,179 

Total financial assets 1,634,945 - - 1,634,945 
 

b) Risks 

The Corporation is exposed to risks which could have an impact on its capacity to reach its strategic growth objectives. The 
Corporation strives to control and mitigate its financial risks through management practices that require the identification and 
analysis of the risks related to its operations. 
 
The following describes the Corporation’s main financial risks: 

i. Credit Risks 

In the normal course of business, the Corporation's exposure to credit risk results from the possibility that a client or financial 
institution may default, in part or in whole, on their financial obligations, as they come due.  

Cash and short-term investments  

Cash as well as short-term investments are mainly risk-free or low risk investments, such as cash and guaranteed term 
deposits held with recognized financial institutions. None of these short-term investments consist of asset-backed 
commercial paper. Consequently, management considers the credit risk related to cash and short-term investments to be 
minimal. 

Clients 

In the normal course of business, the Corporation grants credit to its clients. The Corporation carries out credit checks on its 
clients and establishes allowances for doubtful accounts. For other accounts receivable, the Corporation determines, on a 
continuing basis, the probable losses and establishes a provision for losses based on the estimated realizable value.  

As at March 31, 2012, 93% of accounts receivable from customers was broken down between two clients active in the 
mining exploration industry (97% of accounts receivable from seven clients active in the mining exploration industry as at 
March 31, 2011, 42% of accounts receivable from two clients active in the mining exploration industry as at April 1, 2010). It 
should be noted that given the specialization of the Corporation’s market niche, it is most likely that such concentration risk 
will continue. However, from one year to the next, it is rare that the same clients make up this concentration. Despite the 
concentration of its clients, the credit risk is mitigated through monitoring and the measures available to the Corporation, as 
previously described. 

Additionally, as at March 31, 2012: 
! 93% of the net trade receivables are over 90 days old (22% as at March 31, 2011, 38% as at April 1, 2010); 
! accounts receivable from customers exceeding the normal payment terms of 30 days for which no allowance was 

applied represented 0% of the net accounts receivable from customers (40% or $77,455 as at March 31, 2011, 39% or 
$22,575 as at April 1, 2010). 

Consequently, management considers the credit risk related to accounts receivable to be concerning. 

ii.  Liquidity Risks 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation cannot meet its obligations as they come due. To fund its liquidity requirements, 
the Corporation uses cash flows from operations and issuance of shares. In addition, the Corporation’s policy is to target 
contracts that will generate positive cash flows throughout their execution. 

As at March 31, 2012, accounts payable that were due in the next 12 months totalled $266,593 (March 31, 2011 - $249,055, 
April 1, 2010 – $203,855). Considering the available liquidities to meet its obligations, the Corporation's exposure to liquidity 
risk is nominal.  
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iii. Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the adverse consequences of interest rate changes on the Corporation’s cash flows, financial 
position and income. Interest rate changes directly impact the fair value of the fixed interest rate accounts of the financial 
statements.  

As at March 31, 2012, the Corporation's exposure to interest rate risk is summarized as follows: 

Short-term investments Fixed interest rate 
Accounts receivable Non-interest bearing 
Accounts payable   Non-interest bearing 

iv. Market Risk related to Exchange Rate Fluctuations Risk 

During the year, almost all sales and purchases were made using the Canadian dollar. Consequently, management 
considers the exchange rate fluctuation risk to be minimal. 

 
16. Expenses by nature 
 

 Year ended March 31, 
 2012 2011 
 $ 
   

Amortization 81,355  125,940  
Audit 36,915  47,968  
Bad debts -  (76,505) 
Communications 60,298  86,334  
Consulting 309,895  212,374  
Leasing 171,555  123,862  
Legal 36,096  82,395  
Loss on receivables payable in shares 55,029  -  
Marketing 91,300  85,101  
Overhead 120,578  93,079  
Remuneration 2,438,515  2,044,944  
Revaluation (3,899) 3,097  
Tax credits (192,026) (178,206) 
Travel and living 237,661  215,444  

 3,443,272  2,865,827  
 

17. Income taxes 

As at March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, income taxes recoverable are comprised of non-capital losses and investment tax credits. 
Based on available information, it is probable that income taxes recoverable on these amounts will not be realized in the near future; 
therefore no deferred taxes provision was recorded in these financial statements.  

The reconciliation of the income tax provision calculated using the federal and provincial statutory income tax rates to the provision 
for income taxes per the financial statements is as follows: 

 
 Year ended March 31, 

 2012  2011 
 $ 

Net loss for the year (2,192,979)  (1,074,271) 
    
Income taxes recoverable at statutory tax rates of 28.03% (2011 – 29.53%) 614,692   317,232  
Valuation allowance (614,692)  (317,232) 
Net income taxes -   -  
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Significant components of the Corporation's deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 
 Year ended March 31, 

 2012  2011 
 $ 

Operating losses carried forward 1,972,142   1,571,840  
SR&ED expenditures 890,029   748,467  
Investment tax credits 747,336   629,799  
Capital assets and intangible assets 73,053   67,669  
Future income tax assets 3,682,560   3,017,775  
Valuation allowance (3,682,560)  (3,017,775) 
 -   -  

The non-capital losses (Federal amounts shown hereafter), continual and available, will expire as follows: 

March 31, $  March 31, $  March 31, $ 
2014 246,255  2027 177,589  2030 1,557,531 
2015 735,735  2028 93,504  2031 854,384 
2026 9,342  2029 1,585,740  2032 1,491,339 

      Total 6,751,419 

Investment tax credits (Federal amounts shown hereafter) will expire as follows: 

March 31, $  March 31, $  March 31, $ 
2023 34,386  2026 86,448  2029 94,288 
2024 25,481  2027 87,193  2030 132,055 
2025 161,868  2028 91,820  2031 148,019 

      2032 160,790 
      Total 1,022,348 

 
18. Net change in non-cash operating working capital items  

 
  Year ended March 31, 

  2012 2011 
  $ 
    

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable  18,241  (128,926) 
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses  (1,451) 5,885  
Decrease (increase) in inventories  (47,639) -  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable  17,538  45,200  
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues  (40,971) (5,450) 

  (54,282) (83,291) 
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19. Segment information 

The Corporation operates one material reportable segment; data interpretation services.  Revenue by geographic area is presented 
below on the basis of the country of delivery. All capital and intangible assets are located in Canada. 

The following table presents the segmented revenue by geographical sector: 

 
 

Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011 
 $ 
   

Canada 1,232,699 1,049,513 
United States of America 39,705 - 
Chile 26,650 25,000 
France 16,081 - 
Vietnam 12,000 - 
Mexico 685 - 

 1,327,820 1,074,513 
 

20. Related party transactions 

The Corporation’s related parties include the wholly owned subsidiaries as well as the Corporation’s key management personnel. 
Key management personnel include directors and officers. During the period no transaction took place between the Corporation and 
its wholly owned subsidiaries. Total compensation paid to key management personnel is shown below: 

 
 
 Year ended March 31, 

 2012 2011 
 $ 
   

Base salary 687,318 598,529 
Stock based compensation 150,087 175,445 
Incentives 125,650 25,000 
Sales commissions 56,202 74,624 
Directors’ fees 56,500 - 

 1,075,757 873,598 
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21. Transition to IFRS – The basis of transition 
 

a) Application of IFRS 1 

The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2012 are the first annual financial 
statements to be prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These consolidated 
financial statements were prepared as described in note 2. The Corporation applied IFRS 1 in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Corporation’s date of transition to IFRS is April 1, 2010, that is, the date of the beginning of the earliest comparative year. 
The Corporation prepared its opening statement of financial position as at that date. The date of IFRS adoption by the 
Corporation is April 1, 2011. 

IFRS 1 general rule is to apply retrospectively all standards effective as at March 31, 2012. IFRS 1 provides for some 
exemptions and exceptions to this general rule.  

 
b) Exemptions to the retrospective application 

The Corporation decided to apply the following exemption: 
 

i. Business combinations 

The Corporation applied the exemption provided for under IFRS 1. Business combinations that occurred before the 
date of transition to IFRS were not restated. The classification determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP has 
been maintained. Assets and liabilities acquired in past business combinations were recognized at the date of 
transition to IFRS.  

 
c) Exception to the retrospective application 

The Corporation applied the following mandatory exception: 
 

i. Estimates 

Hindsight was not used to create or revise estimates and accordingly, the estimates in accordance with IFRS are 
consistent with the ones made in accordance with CGAAP. 

 
22. Transition to IFRS – Reconciliation between IFRS and Canadian GAAP (CGAAP) 

The following reconciliations demonstrate the effect of the transition to IFRS: 
 

! Equity at April 1, 2010 
! Equity at March 31, 2011 
! Comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2011 
! Cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2011 
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Reconciliation of equity at April 1, 2010: 
 CGAAP  IFRS 

adjustment 

 IFRS 
 As at    As at 
 April 1, 2010 Note  April 1, 2010 
 $ 

      
Share capital 12,446,792     12,446,792  
Reserve 2,775,874  i 447,032   3,222,906  
Deficit (13,382,706) i (447,032)  (13,829,738) 
Investments revaluation reserve 141,892     141,892  
 1,981,852  -   1,981,852  

Reconciliation of equity at March 31, 2011: 
 CGAAP  IFRS 

adjustment 

 IFRS 
 As at    As at 
 March 31, 2011 Note  March 31, 2011 
 $ 

      
Share capital 12,640,362     12,640,362  
Reserve 2,822,377  i 680,215   3,502,592  
Deficit (14,456,977) i (680,215)  (15,137,192) 
Investments revaluation reserve 176,417     176,417  
 1,182,179  -   1,182,179  

 

i. Cumulative adjustment required to retrospectively apply IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment – for outstanding and non-
vested options under the Corporation’s stock option plan at the transition date. Under CGAAP, the Corporation was 
permitted to elect to treat the stock options issued with graded vesting conditions, to determine the fair value using the 
average expected life of the instruments and recognize the expense on a straight-line basis. Under IFRS 2, the 
Corporation is required to recognize each tranche of a graded vesting stock option grant over the required vesting 
period in valuing stock options, and use an estimated forfeiture rate, resulting in an accelerated compensation expense 
for these awards under IFRS. 
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Comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2011: 

 
 CGAAP  IFRS 

adjustment 

 IFRS 
 Year ended    Year ended 

 March 31, 2011 Note  March 31, 2011 
 $ 
 
Revenue 

 
1,074,513  

   
1,074,513  

Cost of goods sold 24,950     24,950  
     
Gross profit 1,049,563    1,049,563  
     
Expenses     
 
General, sales and administrative 
Research and development 
Tax credits on research and development expenses 
Geology 
Amortization of capital assets 
Amortization of intangible assets 

 
1,866,252  

614,125  
(178,206) 
204,533  

64,550  
61,390  

  
i 

 
233,183  

  
2,099,435  

614,125  
(178,206) 
204,533  

64,550  
61,390  

 2,632,644  233,183   2,865,827  
 
Loss before other income 

 
(1,583,081) 

 
(233,183) 

  
(1,816,264) 

     
Interest income 8,790    8,790  
Gain on disposal of investments 500,020    500,020  
 508,810    508,810  
     
Net loss  (1,074,271) (233,183)  (1,307,454) 
     
Other element of comprehensive loss     
Variance in fair value of investments 536,510    536,510  
Accumulated variances in fair value of investments at 

time of disposals 
 

(501,985) 
   

(501,985) 
 34,525    34,525  
     
Comprehensive loss (1,039,746) (233,183)  (1,272,929) 

     

i Adjustment required to retrospectively apply IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment – for outstanding and non-vested options under the 
Corporation’s stock option plan at the transition date. Under CGAAP, the Corporation was permitted to elect to treat the stock options 
issued with graded vesting conditions, to determine the fair value using the average expected life of the instruments and recognize the 
expense on a straight-line basis. Under IFRS 2, the Corporation is required to recognize each tranche of a graded vesting stock option 
grant over the required vesting period in valuing stock options, and use an estimated forfeiture rate, resulting in an accelerated 
compensation expense for these awards under IFRS. 
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Cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2011: 

 CGAAP  
IFRS 

adjustment 

 IFRS 
 Year ended   Year ended 
 March 31, 2011 Note  March 31, 2011 
 $ 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

   

Net loss  (1,074,271) i (233,183)  (1,307,454) 
 

Items not affecting cash 
 Amortization of capital assets 
 Amortization of intangible assets 
 Loss on sale of intangible assets 
   Revaluation of short-term investments 

Stock-based compensation expense 
   Gain on disposal of investments 

 
 

64,550  
61,390  

3,914  
3,097  

115,790  
(500,020) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

i 

 
 
 
 
 
 

233,183  
 

  
 

64,550  
61,390  

3,914  
3,097  

348,973  
(500,020) 

    
 (1,325,550) -   (1,325,550) 
    
Net change in non-cash operating working capital items (83,291)  (83,291) 
     
 (1,408,841) -   (1,408,841) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Additions to short-term investments (886,153)  (886,153) 
Proceeds from disposals of short-term investments 1,712,628   1,712,628  
Proceeds from disposals of investments 684,105   684,105  
Additions to capital assets (87,938)  (87,938) 
Additions to intangible assets (51,774)  (51,774) 
Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets 4,627   4,627  
    
 1,375,495  -   1,375,495  
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Issuance of shares and warrants, net of issue expenses 124,283  -   124,283  
    
Net change in cash 90,937  -   90,937  
    
Cash, beginning of year 256,313  -   256,313  
    
Cash, end of year 347,250  -   347,250  

 

i Adjustment required to retrospectively apply IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment – for outstanding and non-vested options under the 
Corporation’s stock option plan at the transition date. Under CGAAP, the Corporation was permitted to elect to treat the stock 
options issued with graded vesting conditions as a single grant, to determine the fair value using the average expected life of the 
instruments and recognize the expense on a straight-line basis. Under IFRS 2, the Corporation is required to recognize each 
tranche of a graded vesting stock option grant over the required vesting period in valuing stock options, and use an estimated 
forfeiture rate, resulting in an accelerated compensation expense for these awards under IFRS. 
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